**Nomination of Historic Building, Structure, Site, or Object**

**Philadelphia Register of Historic Places**

**Philadelphia Historical Commission**

*Submit all attached materials on paper and in electronic form (CD, email, flash drive)*

*Electronic files must be Word or Word compatible*

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>1. Address of Historic Resource (must comply with an Office of Property Assessment address)</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Street address: 224 W. Washington Lane</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Postal code: 19144</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>2. Name of Historic Resource</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Historic Name: Gardener’s Cottage of the Lewis &amp; Martha Taws Estate</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Current Name: Unknown</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>3. Type of Historic Resource</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>☑ Building</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>4. Property Information</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Condition: ☑ excellent</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Occupancy: ☑ occupied</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Current use: Single-Family</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>5. Boundary Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Please attach a narrative description and site/plot plan of the resource’s boundaries.</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>6. Description</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Please attach a narrative description and photographs of the resource’s physical appearance, site, setting, and surroundings.</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>7. Significance</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Please attach a narrative Statement of Significance citing the Criteria for Designation the resource satisfies.</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Period of Significance (from year to year): 1860-1923</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Date(s) of construction: ca.1860-61</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Architects: Unknown</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Builders: Unknown</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Original owner: Lewis &amp; Martha Taws</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Significant person: Unknown</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION:
The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply):

☐ (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant in the past; or,
☐ (b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,
☒ (c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or,
☐ (d) Embody distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,
☐ (e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,
☐ (f) Contains elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship which represent a significant innovation; or,
☐ (g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or,
☐ (h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or,
☐ (i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or
☒ (j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.

8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES
Please attach a bibliography.

9. NOMINATOR
Organization: West Central Germantown Neighbors
Author: Oscar Beisert, Architectural Historian
Date: 13 September 2021
Keeping Society of Philadelphia
Address: 1315 Walnut Street, Suite 320
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107
Telephone: 717.602.5002
Email: keeper@keepingphiladelphia.org

Nominator ☐ is ☒ is not the property owner.

PHC USE ONLY
Date of Receipt: __ September 13, 2021
☒ Correct-Complete ☐ Incorrect-Incomplete
Date: __ October 22, 2021
Date of Notice Issuance: __ October 28, 2021

Property Owner at Time of Notice:
Name: Conarroe Jawn LLC
Address: 224 W. Tulpehocken St., #5

City: Philadelphia State: PA Postal Code: 19144
Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation: __ December 1, 2021
Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission: __ June 10, 2022
Date of Final Action: __ June 10, 2022
☒ Designated ☐ Rejected 12/7/18
NOMINATION

FOR THE

PHILADELPHIA REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

Figure 1. Looking east at the northwest and southwest elevations. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.

GARDENER’S COTTAGE
IN THE GOTHIC REVIVAL STYLE
ERECTED CA. 1860-61
OF THE
LEWIS & MARTHA TAWS ESTATE
—
224 W. WASHINGTON LANE
GERMANTOWN
PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA
5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary for the designation of the subject property is as follows:

Situate on the southeasterly side of Washington Lane at the distance of two hundred twenty-five feet and one-quarter of an inch southwestwardly from the southwesterly side of Greene Street (both Streets fifty feet wide). Containing in front for breath on the said side of Washington Lane sixty-five feet and five-eighths of an inch and extending of that width in length or depth southeastwardly between parallel lines with the said Greene Street eighty-seven feet, nine inches.
Figure 3. Looking north at the environment of the subject property, which is identified with an arrow. Source: Pictometry, Atlas, City of Philadelphia. Figure 4. Looking north at the subject property. Source: Google. Figure 5. An aerial view of the subject property. Source: Google.
6. Physical Description

Built ca. 1860-61, the Taws Gardener’s Cottage contains a one-and-one-half-story building designed in the Gothic Revival style. It is recessed from W. Washington Lane and enhanced by a matured plantings and trees in the front, rear and side yards. The subject building is part of and related to an historic vignette, which includes the prototype ancillary structures and features of a prosperous suburban estate. Shown in Figures 33 and 34, the subject building is nestled within a streetscape of two service-related buildings and other resources, including the distinctive Taws Stable at 228 W. Washington Lane (not included in this nomination) to the southwest, a handsome stone wall at 228 and 232 W. Washington Lane (not included in this nomination), and the site of the former Taws Greenhouse (not included in this nomination) and paddock, now open space. The topology of this place is defined by undulating grounds within which the subject property stands about midway on an incline, just below which is the Taws Stable, and, further down, the site of the former Taws Greenhouse and Paddock. The Taws Paddock is a low-lying parcel that sits below the elevated thoroughfare. The subject property and the other aforesaid structures form a distinctive suburban and still pastoral remnant of nineteenth century Germantown.

According to real estate atlases of the nineteenth century, the subject building is constructed primarily of brick with a stucco finish, as was common in this part of Philadelphia. The Gothic Revival style is exhibited by the quaint, low-slung form and scale of the building, the employment of gable-front wall dormers within the projecting eves of the upper story, the second-floor window openings, the terracotta chimney pots that crown the central chimney, and the cross-gable roof. The subject building is defined by two rectangular volumes, which include an enclosed, one-story porch at the northwest elevation, a one-story bay window at the westerly end of the southwest elevation, and a one-story addition at the south corner of the building.
The northwest elevation of the northwesterly block is comprised of a one-and-one-half-story gable-end and an enclosed, one-story projecting porch. The upper story features a Gothic Revival style gable end with a single opening at center defined by a triangular arch and features a replacement window. The gable is defined by wooden molding. The northwest elevation of the porch features a single pedestrian door to the northeast and a large opening with three replacement windows divided by mullions. The southwest elevation is dominated by two Gothic Revival style gable-front wall dormers that feature single openings each defined by a triangular arch. The first floor features a one-story bay window with two small openings with replacement windows near the north corner followed by a three-part mullion window, as well as a large chimney stack at the south corner of the building. This chimney is embedded in a one-story addition at the west corner of the building. The southwest elevation of the one-story addition features a large opening with windows and a single pedestrian door. The northeast elevation features a central, Gothic Revival style gable end that extends from the main roofline of the northwesterly block, forming a cross-gable roof. The gable features a single opening at center that is defined by a triangular arch. To the southeast is the secondary block that features two additional Gothic Revival style gable-front wall dormers each of which serve single apertures defined a triangular arch. The southeast elevation of the southeasterly block is defined by a Gothic Revival gable end with a central opening, featuring a triangular arch. The building features affordable replacement windows. The southeast elevation of the southeasterly block features a single pedestrian door that leads to a deck that is situated atop the aforementioned one-story addition at the south corner. At the center of the northwesterly block is a central chimney with two Gothic Revival style terracotta chimney pots.
The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Figure 8. Looking southeast at the northeast elevation with the Taws Twin at 223 W. Tulpehocken Street in the background. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Figure 9. Looking northwest at the southeast and northeast elevations. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.
The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Figure 10. Looking northwest at the southeast elevation. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.
The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Figure 11. Looking south at the rooftop of the subject property within its matured landscape from W. Washington Lane. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Figure 12. Looking northwest at the southeast elevation of the subject property and the Taws Stable to the southwest within the lush and matured landscape. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.
7. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Gardener’s Cottage of the Lewis & Martha Taws Suburban Estate (Taws Gardener’s Cottage) at 224 W. Washington Lane in Germantown is a significant historic resource that merits designation by the Philadelphia Historical Commission and inclusion on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places. The subject building satisfies the following Criteria for Designation, as enumerated in Section 14–1004 of the Philadelphia Code:

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style;
(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style;
(g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; and
(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community.

The period of significance dates to the time of design and construction: ca.1860-61.
CRITERIA C, D, E, & J
Satisfying Criteria C and D, the Taws Gardener’s Cottage possesses distinguishing characteristics of the Gothic Revival style and reflects the built environment in an era characterized by this architectural movement. The subject building is nestled within a distinctive nineteenth-century vignette of ancillary suburban, estate buildings and features that conform to a Romantic ideal in architecture and the Picturesque in landscape, satisfying Criterion E. The Taws Gardener’s Cottage also exemplifies national and international trends in the development of the suburban built environment during the nineteenth century, specifically gardener’s cottages. Satisfying Criterion J, the employment of the Gothic Revival in the design of such buildings reflects the cultural, economic, social and historical heritage of the Germantown community.

Criteria C & D. The State Historic Preservation Office’s (SHPO) Pennsylvania Architectural Field Guide devotes an entire subsection to the Gothic Revival Style, in which dwellings are described as a common building type. Of the eight identifiable features, the subject building possesses characteristics that exemplify the Gothic Revival style: arches as decorative elements and as window shape; front facing gables; porches with turned posts or columns; steeply pitched roof; gables often topped with finials or cross bracing; and decorative crowns (gable or drip mold) over windows and doors.1

---

Figures 1 and 8. The above photographs are enhanced to highlight various characteristics of the Gothic Revival style, including yellow outlines on the gable ends and gable front wall dormers, as well as dotted lines on the Gothic Revival style triangular top arched windows. Top: Looking east at the southwest elevation. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Bottom: Looking northwest at the southeast and northeast elevations. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.

Containing six of the eight most identifiable features defined by the SHPO’s Pennsylvania Architectural Field Guide, the subject building includes triangular arched windows; front and side facing gables with decorative molding; one-story porches supported by turned posts/columns—though the side porch has been enclosed, the turned posts appear to be boxed in; a steeply pitched roof; distinctive gable-front wall dormers; decorative placement of triangular arch windows within gable-front wall dormers, as well as triangular top arch windows within the gable ends of the roof; and distinctive terra cotta chimney pots at the center of the northwesterly block of the building. While not all of the subject property’s Gothic Revival features are precisely described by the SHPO, other notable features are referenced in Virginia and Lee McAlester’s discussion of the Gothic Revival style in A Field Guide To American Houses, published in 1989. The McAlesters
include the following common variants and details: a one-story porch; the cross-gable roof; triangular arched windows; one-story bay windows; exposed rafters and purlins, occasionally with an open eave; etc., all of which are exhibited in the subject building.²

![Figure 17](image)

Figure 17. Taken in 1858, looking north, this photograph shows a small Gothic Revival style cottage in the rear of a lot along the east side of Germantown Avenue between E. Penn Street and Church Lane. Source: Philalandmarks.org.

While somewhat unusual, the employment of gable front wall dormers with varying types of arched window openings was a common thread of Gothic Revival and Italianate houses in Germantown. One of the earliest known examples stood in the rear of a lot extending from the east side of Germantown Avenue between E. Penn Street and Church Lane. Illustrated above in Figure 17, this early specimen was also a one-and-one-half-story, stucco-clad cottage with a gable front wall dormer, featuring a triangular arched window. The aforenoted features of this building are akin to those employed in the subject property. Figure 18 illustrates the Charles W. Churchman House at the corner of Chew and Stenton Avenues in East Germantown, which is replete with gable front wall dormers and windows defined by triangular arches. The Churchman House is also related stylistically to the subject building. Shown in Figure 19, the E.H. Coates House at 5326 Baynton Street is a hybrid Gothic Revival and Italianate style building with two gable front wall dormers like the subject building.

![Examples of Gothic Revival style buildings](image)

Examples of Gothic Revival style buildings in Germantown, all of which employ arched windows and gable front wall dormers. Figure 18. Left: The Charles W. Churchman House at the northeast corner of Chew and Stenton Avenues in East Germantown. Source: Google. Figure 19. Right: The E.H. Coates House at 5326 Baynton Street is a hybrid Gothic Revival and Italianate style building with two wall dormers featuring gable front dormers with round arch openings. Source: Germantown Historical Society.

Beyond the concept of a gardener’s cottage, dwellings for servants who lived and worked onsite were often designed in the Gothic Revival style. This national and international trend also persisted in Philadelphia. North Cedar Hill Cemetery in Frankford features a one-and-one-half-story Gothic Revival cottage (Figures 22 and 23), likely built for a caretaker or keeper. Stylistically, the building differs in form from the subject property but shares more subtle characteristics like its cross-gable roof and one-story porch with Gothic Revival style details. Two Gothic Revival style stables originally stood in the rear of this dwelling, though one was recently demolished. A twin dwelling (Figure 24) for servants (1852), designed in the Gothic Revival style, still stands at 6190 Ardleigh Street and is part of the Awbury Arboretum Historic District. This building features a cross gable roof, gable front wall dormers, triangular arched windows, etc.\(^3\) All of these features relate to the subject building. Shown in Figure 25, the Gardener’s Cottage at Ravenhill in W. School House Lane was also designed in the Gothic Revival style with a distinctive cross gable roof and terra cotta chimney pots that are similar to the subject building.

The Gardener's Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Other examples, varying in form and stylistic application, grace the Germantown landscape. Shown in Figure 26, a Keeper’s Cottage (ca.1790, 1837, and 1880) of the Roxboro Estate in the rear of the main house in W. School House Lane in East Falls/Germantown is likely an eighteenth-century building that was later enhanced with Gothic Revival style windows. Serving another estate on W. School House Lane, Figure 27 depicts the Stone Gothic Cottage (ca.1848-50) on Cherry Lane, officially 3000 W. School House Lane.⁴ This building is also one-and-one-half-stories with a cross-gable roof, a central chimney, and a one-story porch. Further west, in Overbrook, The Chestnuts, also known as Leighton Place, is a fully intact suburban estate, which retains its Gardener’s Cottage (Figures 28 and 29). This building too has a cross-gable roof, as well as gable-front wall dormers.⁵

---


Discussed in greater detail in the historic context section of this nomination, the Gothic Revival style Gardener’s Cottage went far beyond the Philadelphia Region, being a common architectural type for large to moderate size suburban and country places in North America and across the Atlantic in Europe. Below are several examples of the Gothic Revival style cottage in the Hudson Valley, including Matthew Vassar’s Cottage (Figure 30/Demolished) and his Porter’s Cottage (Figure 31) at Springside in Poughkeepsie, New York; the Gardener’s Cottage at Springwood (Figure 32), the Estate of Franklin D. Roosevelt at Hyde Park, New York; the Cedarcliff Gatehouse (Figure 33) at Poughkeepsie, New York; and the Gardener’s Cottage (Figure 34) at the Manor of Montebello in Quebec, Canada.
The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Figure 32. The Edward White Clark Estate at the southeast corner of School House Lane and Wissahickon Avenue, showing the ancillary buildings, which formed a distinctive historic landscape. Source: New York Public Library.

Criteria G and J. The Taws Gardener’s Cottage is representative of the cultural and social heritage of suburban development of the mid-nineteenth century in Germantown. The influence of Andrew J. Downing, the eminent American tastemaker and horticulturist, and other designers had long term influence on places where ornamental suburban and rural architecture was commissioned and built, a circumstance wherein aesthetics was a primary considerations over pure utility. In this pursuit even ancillary buildings, such as cottages for servants, greenhouses, and stables were designed to suit the Romantic taste of the era. The stereo view shown above in Figure 32 of the Edward White Clark Residence is not focused on the Italianate mansion at the southeast corner of W. School House Lane and Wissahickon Avenue in Germantown, rather the Gothic Revival and Italianate outbuildings. While the land remains open today, all of Clark’s buildings, aside from the Gardener’s Cottage or Lodge, have been demolished; however, this illustration depicts a distinctive built environment and landscape that was once common in Germantown.

The subject property is part of distinctive nineteenth-century landscape that is visible from E. Washington Lane, as well as Tulpehocken Street. The E. Washington Lane vista includes the Taws Gardener’s Cottage, the impressive Taws Stable, stone walls, gate posts, matured plantings and trees, the former site of the Taws Greenhouse and Paddock. This view affords the public with a glimpse of the planned Romanticism of nineteenth-century suburban architecture and landscape in Germantown. While the Lewis and Martha Taws House has been demolished, a substantial twin residence, which was part of their estate, still stands at 223 and 225 W. Tulpehocken Street. Component parts of large suburban and rural estates that survive in other parts of the country are protected and preserved by their respective municipalities, while also being listed in the National Register of Historic Places. The gatehouse (Figure 33) at Cedarcliff in Poughkeepsie, New York survives, along with iron fencing and posts. Set within matured plantings and trees, this vignette is an historic landscape that represents a component part of a once larger property. Also in Poughkeepsie, the gateway, including brownstone posts and iron fencing, as well as the Gothic Revival style Porter’s Cottage (Figure 34), of Springside, the Matthew Vassar estate, survives at...
the margin of a larger historic viewshed. These landscape vignettes provide remarkable physical evidence of the estate properties that have been lost to development and time. The subject property not only relates to these examples architecturally, but it is also part of a small vignette that speaks to that same development and aesthetic heritage in Germantown.

From the driveway of 223 W. Tuphehocken Street is an historic viewshed of the subject property, and its characteristic Gothic Revival gable end and triangular arched window. From both W. Washington Lane and W. Tuphehocken Street, as well as the alley between the two streets, the Taws Gardener’s Cottage is part of and related to a distinctive mid-nineteenth century architectural and landscape vignette that speaks to the aesthetic, cultural and social heritage of the community.

Figure 33. Top: The Gatehouse of Cedarcliff, a Gothic Revival style cottage, similar to the subject property in scale and particular details, at Poughkeepsie, New York. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Figure 34. Bottom: The mid-nineteenth century gateway and Porter’s Cottage of Springside, Matthew Vassar’s estate in Poughkeepsie, New York. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.
The Gardener’s Cottage in the Gothic Revival Style of the Lewis & Martha Taws Estate
224 W. Washington Lane, Germantown, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Figure 35. Top: Looking east at the Taws Cottage and the Taws Stable from W. Washington Lane. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Figure 36. Middle: Looking southeast at the Taws Gardener’s Cottage and the Taws’ Stable. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021. Figure 37. Bottom: Looking northwest at the Taws Twin Residence at 223 and 225 W. Tulpehocken Street with the Taws’ Gardener’s Cottage in the background. Source: Oscar Beisert, 2021.
While some buildings along Germantown’s rich suburban streets were unique designs, dwellings like the Taws Gardener’s Cottage were influenced by pattern books and publications that popularized the Gothic Revival and Italianate styles across the country. Naturally, the introduction of the pattern book did not begin in America, but, rather, across the Atlantic in England. As shown in Figures 38 and 39, elevation drawings and floor plans for cottages of a similar design and scale to the subject property were published for British consumption in the early nineteenth century. American pattern books began with agricultural and architectural journals, including some early examples such as designs “On Horticultural Architecture” in *The Horticultural Register* in 1835 and a farmhouse competition with illustrations in *The Cultivator* in 1839. A.J. Downing’s *Rural Residences* was perhaps the most important early pattern book, published in 1837-38, which was followed by his *Landscape Gardening* in 1841.6

While Downing had popularized the pattern book trend in the 1830s and 1840s, Philadelphia too boasted similar publications. In July 1860, *The Gardener’s Monthly* published “Gardener’s Cottage or Tenant House” by the eminent Quaker architect, J.C. Sidney of Philadelphia. The illustration shows a one-and-one-half-story dwelling with a side-gable roof, projecting eves, a one-story side porch, gable front wall dormers, and windows with triangular arches. Sidney describes the purpose of such a building on an estate:

A Gardener’s house on a gentlemen’s place is often required to accommodate assistants as well as the gardener and his wife. Sometimes the gardener’s tastes go beyond fruits and flowers and may require room for a family.\(^7\)

Sidney’s design, published by Thomas Meehan of Mt. Airy, is remarkably similar to the Taws Gardner’s Cottage built soon after this publication. Ultimately, architects like Sidney used publications like *The Gardener’s Monthly* to promote their designs to the local community, and, in many cases, patronage followed. The subject building is an example of how the pattern book was important to the popularization of the Gothic Revival style in Germantown and Philadelphia, exemplifying the cultural and social heritage of the community.


A Brief History of Lewis & Martha Taws’ Suburban Estate

Between 1860 and 1863, Lewis and Martha Taws assembled several parcels including what is known today as 231 W. Tulpehocken Street, 225 W. Tulpehocken Street, 223 W. Tulpehocken Street, 232 W. Washington Lane, 228 W. Washington Lane, and 224 W. Washington Lane—the subject property—to form a substantial suburban estate on Tulpehocken Street, extending to Washington Lane. The primary Taws Mansion (demolished) stood at 231 W. Tulpehocken Street. The properties at 223 and 225 W. Tulpehocken Street contain a large Italianate style twin residence that was purchased by Lewis and Martha Taws likely for the use of their daughters—Madelene Vincentia Taws Moore (1832-1912) and Mary Gertrude Taws Scott (1847-1876). In the rear of 231 W. Tulpehocken Street, 232 W. Washington contains low-lying open space that was formerly the site of the Taws Greenhouse, the walls of which appear to be still present, retaining the elevated cartway above. In the rear of 223 and 225 W. Tulpehocken Street, the property at 228 W. Washington Lane contains the Gothic Revival style Taws Stable, which was likely connected to the Taws Greenhouse. Located at 224 W. Washington Lane, the subject property contains the Gothic Revival style Taws Gardener’s Cottage.

Figure 41. City Atlas of Philadelphia, 22nd Ward, 1876, Plate U, showing the Lewis and Martha Taws Estate. Source: Free Library of Philadelphia.
Biographical Information on Lewis and Martha Taws

A native of Philadelphia and the son of Charles Taws, an organ maker, Lewis Taws was among the hugely successful businessmen of the mid-nineteenth century Quaker City. After “receiving ample training in the best of schools,” he apprenticed as a mechanical engineer with Messrs. Rush & Muhlenberg, successors to Oliver Evans, after which time he learned more about “engine building” at various firms in New York City. Just a few years later, he undertook a tour of the American South and Puerto Rico, where he studied various types of machinery and manufacturing. In 1824, he entered the partnership of I. P. Morris and Company, then one of the largest iron founders in the country. He was initially placed in the mechanical department as an engineer, though within ten years he was a senior partner in the firm. During his tenure, he installed the water-wheels at the Fairmount Water Works and supervised the construction of various sugar refineries in the American South. During the Civil War, Taws supervised the construction of iron light houses and war vessels for the Union Army.

---

8 “Obituary. Lewis Taws, Esq.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.; “Obituary. Death of Mr. Lewis Taws.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.; and “Death of a Well-Known Citizen—Lewis Taws,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.
10 “Obituary. Lewis Taws, Esq.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.; “Obituary. Death of Mr. Lewis Taws.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.; and “Death of a Well-Known Citizen—Lewis Taws,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.
Born in Pottsville to George Snyder, Jr. and Sarah Matlack, Mrs. Martha Hunter Snyder Taws was remembered as an “avid horticulturist,” employing a gardener almost immediately upon the purchase of the subject and associated properties at Germantown.\(^{11}\) One of the first gardeners of the Taws family was Thomas Meghran, employed temporarily in 1862.\(^{12}\) By 1863, Remi Herrise (1838-1916), an Alsatian gardener, was employed by the Taws family, as their fulltime employee.\(^{13}\) The employment of Alsatian landscape architects and gardeners was a well-known trend in America during the nineteenth century, as described in the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places Nomination for The Chestnuts in West Philadelphia.\(^{14}\) It appears that the subject building was built between ca. 1860 and 1863, being occupied by the gardener early on during the Taws’ period of ownership. Remi Herisse and his German-born wife, Pauline Jaegle Herrise (1840-1908), were recorded in the 1870 Census at Germantown, seven years after being recognized in *The Gardener’s Monthly* as the Taws’ gardener.\(^{15}\) The 1880 census confirms that the Herrises were still residing at 112 W. Washington Lane (now known as 224 W. Washington Lane), at which time the Taws property was recorded as 110 W. Tulpehocken Street.\(^{16}\) In 1863 alone, he worked with Martha Taws to earn a “prize for a pretty pair of Hand Bouquets, of modest proportions and gracefully combined.” He was recognized in *The Gardener’s Monthly* for “luscious mushrooms,” as well as a basket of flowers of a “harmonious arrangement.”\(^{17}\) Martha Taws was known for “her artistic floral displays and for growing tropical fruits and flowers in her

---

12 *The Gardener’s Monthly*, 1 March 1862, 94.
13 *The Gardener’s Monthly*, October 1863, 159.
17 *The Gardener’s Monthly*, October 1863, 159.
well equipped greenhouse.”18 The greenhouse appears to have been located immediately adjacent to the subject property at 226 W. Washington Lane, as part of the Taws Stable.

Dr. Cornelius Weygandt, writer and professor of English literature at the University of Pennsylvania, once resided on Tulpehocken Street next to the Taws Mansion, recording the following in On The Edge of Evening, published in 1944:

> On the other side, at Mrs. Taws, lived Ross Granville Harrison, now the distinguished biologist. This was a place with grotto and fish pond and formal terraces, hemlock-bordered gardens and trellises for grapes, and greenhouses and hothouses of many kinds. There was a cool house of circular construction for camellias, a warm greenhouse from which we once stole a ripe pineapple, and hothouses where were gardenias and orchids. William Herrise, the Alsatian gardener who presided over all these extravagances, was choleric and marvelously bearded, a man who seemed to have stepped right out of a German fairy tale. He bred strange breeds of fowls, of French and German origins, sultans and Houdans, golden Hamburgs and silks.19

In his book Germantown Gardens and Gardeners, Edwin Costley Jellet, a local historian, recognizes the three most important gardens of Tulpehocken Street, which included that of “Mrs. Lewis Taws.”20 After the death of Martha Taws, her daughter and son-in-law, Madeline Vincentia Taws and Dr. Thomas Lawrence Moore (1827-1882), an important physician in Philadelphia and Germantown, would remain in residence at the Taws’ Germantown property, which included the subject building.

---

Historic Context: The Gothic Revival in England

The Taws Gardener’s Cottage is a distinctive and unusual surviving example of a Gardener’s Cottage, designed in the Gothic Revival style in the Germantown neighborhood of Philadelphia. While gardeners and their cottages may be an age-old fact, the promulgation of the dwelling type came to fore in popular culture during the nineteenth century, starting in England. The Gothic Revival began in the mid-eighteenth century, specifically in 1749, when Horace Walpole (1717-1797) created his “Gothick” villa, Strawberry Hill House, in Twickenham. While other early examples emerged, the style would remain rather exclusive to particular houses and drawing rooms until the early nineteenth century. In 1807, John Britton published Architectural Antiquities of Great Britain, a series that caste a new light on the relevance of aged building forms. Ten years...
later, in 1817, Thomas Rickman published Attempt to discriminate the styles of English architecture from the Conquest to the Reformation; preceded by a sketch of the Grecian and Roman orders, with notices of nearly five hundred English buildings, an opus that popularized terms such as Norman, Early English, Decorated, and Perpendicular as sectors of Gothic architecture. As these books popularized the Gothic Revival style, tastemakers like John Buonarotti Papworth made employment of the style practicable for a wider audience of varying means to create buildings. His book, Rural Residences, Consisting of a Series of Designs for Cottages, Decorated Cottages, Small Villas, and Other Ornamental Buildings, provided elevations of idyllic cottages for the purposes of working people, specifying possible occupants such as bailiff, gardener, steward, etc. His examples also provided floor plans that made his book supremely useful to the owners of large estates, builders, and possibly those of more modest means. The design for “A Cottage,” later relabeled “Gardener’s Cottage” (Figure 43) shows a small one-and-one-half-story dwelling with a gable front at the center of the long side of the building with a porch at one end and a three-sided bay at the other. Slightly smaller and obviously in a more original state, this design is not entirely dissimilar to the subject property, though it was introduced roughly four decades earlier.


**HISTORIC CONTEXT: THE GOTHIC REVIVAL IN THE UNITED STATES**

On this side of the Atlantic, America came slightly later to the Gothic Revival, though there were, like in England, early examples of the style being employed by wealthy eccentrics. One of the most popular tastemakers of the United States, Andrew Jackson Downing published designs for small cottages in the 1840s and 1850s. In 1842, Downing published Cottage Residences, or, A series of designs for rural cottages and cottage villas, and their gardens and grounds: adapted to North America which, like Papworth’s book in England, popularized the applicability of the style to American buildings. The pattern book provided readers with elevation drawings and plans, including “Design 1. A Suburban Cottage, “which was a one-and-one-half-story cottage with a projecting wall dormer at the center. While this building is perhaps slightly larger than the subject building, it shows the conceptual influence on local designs.


**Historic Context: The Gothic Revival in Philadelphia**

Like in so many other chapters of American architectural history, the nascent Gothic Revival style was nurtured in Philadelphia, beginning with a house and followed on by a church, representing the two most popular building types influenced by the style. In 1810, John Dorsey, a merchant and self-taught architect, commissioned a Gothic Revival style mansion at 1217 Chestnut Street. 

While this building was demolished even before its aesthetic took hold, a period illustration of the mansion helped to popularize the style. One of the first Gothic Revival style churches in the country was St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church at 19 S. Tenth Street, which designed by William Strickland and built in 1823. While both of these buildings predate the primary period of the significance, they illustrate the earliest examples of a longtime stylistic prevalence in domestic and religious architecture at Philadelphia.

As Downing’s influence took hold of the popular imagination, Philadelphia remained a leader in the employment of the Gothic Revival in various categories of building types and stylistic application. St. James the Less was “the first example of the pure English Parish Church style in America, and one of the best examples of a nineteenth-century American Gothic church for its coherence and authenticity of design.” Located at Hunting Park Avenue and Clearfield Street, the church was designed by architects George Gordon Place and John E. Carver and built in 1846. This was one of enumerable examples of the style in Philadelphia, which found its way into rural landscapes, village settings, and urban streetscapes. Downing illustrated “Mrs. Camac’s Residence,” in his 1844 edition of *Treatise on the Theory and Practice of Landscape Gardening*, which showed a moderate size country house. Designed by prominent Philadelphia architect John Notman and built ca.1841, the picture of Elizabeth Markoe Camac’s “picturesque cottage, in the rural gothic style, with very charming and appropriate pleasure grounds,” was a persuasive image that influenced domestic architecture in Philadelphia for decades. Commercial buildings too were erected in the Gothic Revival style, perhaps the most prominent example being the Jayne

---

22 *Poulson’s American Daily Advertiser*, 17 July 1810.
Building at 242-44 Chestnut Street. The building featured a heavily fenestrated façade, delineated by Gothic architectural details, including quatrefoil windows on the eighth floor.28

Figure 49. Thomson’s Cottage, Shoemaker Lane, 1858. Source: Philadelphia Society for the Preservation of Landmarks.

Historic Context: The Gothic Revival in Suburban Germantown

The taste for the Gothic Revival did not escape Germantown’s diverse built environment, emerging prominently in commercial, institutional, religious, and residential architecture for much of the Victorian era. The latter two categories being the most prominent benefactors, the development of Germantown as one of America’s premier suburbs in the late second and third quarters of the nineteenth century rendered it an ideal setting for the realization of Downing’s Gothic Revival ideal, as articulated in its own vernacular language. The Map of the Township of Germantown of 1851 by John Flynn shows a dense community that is largely centered on Germantown Avenue with sparsely developed cross streets. While many of the cross streets that exist today had been established by that time, few were comprehensively developed, even in spacious suburban format of many of Germantown’s most lush streets. Known today as E. Penn Street, Shoemaker’s Lane underwent suburban development after 1842, when George Henry Thomson and Rebecca Harrison Willing Thomson purchased the old Shoemaker property.29 Shown in Figure 48, “Thomson’s Cottage,” also known as Mayfield, was constructed between 1842 and 1844 and was one of the first known Gothic Revival style dwellings in Germantown.30 Shoemaker’s Lane was soon renamed Penn Street in 1845. When the 1851 Atlas was published, the street boasted several houses, including the Anne Mifflin House (demolished), a Gothic Revival style building, at the southwest corner of E. Penn and Wakefield Streets. Price Street was another elevated suburban development that was opened with several new houses by 1851.

29 Deed: Robert Morris, of the City of Philadelphia, doctor of medicine, to George H. Thomson, of the same, gentleman, 1 April 1842, Philadelphia Deed Book G.S., No. 39, p. 112, CAP.
Historic Context: The Development of Tulpehocken Street

Perhaps the most successful and intact of the suburban developments that came to define Germantown occurred within the vicinity of what would become Tulpehocken Station of the Pennsylvania Railroad. Predating that line’s important presence on the west side, near the township line, the subject development included Tulpehocken Street and Walnut Lane, specifically the westerly blocks between Germantown and Wayne Avenues. Among the earliest known developers were John C. Fallon (1819-1885), architect; Phineas E. Hamm (1799-1861), a former City Treasurer; and Ebenezer Maxwell (1829-1870), a prominent dry goods merchant. At the time of the development, the land that now encompasses Tulpehocken Street was largely owned by Justus Johnson (1789-1847), a descendant of the famous Johnson (Jansen) family of Germantown. In 1848, Fallon, the aforementioned architect, made a fortuitous marriage to Susan Elizabeth Johnson (1823-1893), the daughter of Justus Johnson and his wife Abigail “Abby” Willing Morris (1787-1858). After his marriage, Fallon almost immediately purchased and began carving up his father-in-law’s sixty-one-acre estate, which led to the creation of Tulpehocken Street, opening in 1850 or 1851. Born in Spain but of British ancestry, Fallon and his brother, Christopher Fallon (1809-1863), were the financial representatives of Queen Christina of Spain in the United States, a position used no doubt to propel their real estate venture. In fact, the first houses built in Tulpehocken Street were two Gothic Revival style cottages—one for the Queen of Spain and the other for her ladies in waiting. While Her Majesty never needed to flee, the proposed residence no doubt made an alluring attraction to the nouveau riche of Philadelphia, who were flocking to new suburban developments in the mid-nineteenth century.

As more and more of the Johnson family land was subdivided so were neighboring properties, including the former Axe property to the north, as well as the rear acreage of Wyck to the south. While the lots closest to Germantown Avenue were smaller, where the development was denser, the properties further to the west were originally larger estate-like lots with room for outbuildings and grounds. The subject building was constructed at the rear of the house at 223 W. Tulpehocken Street. That lot came into being as part of the larger subdivision of the Justus Johnson property in the summer of 1858, when Fallon sold the property to John Fraser (1825-1906), the eminent Philadelphia architect. At the same time, Fraser also developed the lot at 225 W. Tulpehocken Street, which ultimately led to the construction of substantial Italianate twin residence that still stands at 223 and 225 W. Tulpehocken Street. Fraser sold both houses to George W. and Elizabeth Day in 1860. The Days only owned the property for a short time, when both buildings were sold to Lewis and Martha Taws in 1861.

---

35 Deed: George W. Day to Lewis Taws, 16 March 1860, PDB A.C.H., No. 6, p. 510. Source: CAP.
8. BIBLIOGRAPHY
Submitted by West Central Germantown Neighbors, this nomination was sponsored by Constance Capp Winters and completed by the Keeping Society of Philadelphia. The primary author was Oscar Beisert, Architectural Historian and Historic Preservationist, with assistance from J.M. Duffin, Archivist and Historian, Kelly E. Wiles, Architectural Historian.

The following sites were used to create the nomination:
Greater Philadelphia GeoHistory Network
Newspapers.com
Proquest Historical Newspapers

MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES


“Death of a Well-Known Citizen—Lewis Taws,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.
Deed: George W. Day to Lewis Taws, 16 March 1860, PDB A.C.H., No. 6, p. 510. Source: CAP.;
and Deed: John Fraser, architect, to George W. Day, merchant, 6 January 1860, PDB A.D.B., No. 99, 343. Source: CAP.
Deed: George W. Day to Lewis Taws, 16 March 1860, PDB A.C.H., No. 6, p. 510. Source: CAP.
Deed: Robert Morris, of the City of Philadelphia, doctor of medicine, to George H. Thomson, of the same, gentleman, 1 April 1842, Philadelphia Deed Book G.S., No. 39, p. 112, CAP.


“Obituary. Lewis Taws, Esq.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.; “Obituary. Death of Mr. Lewis Taws.,” [Unknown Publication], December 1871.
http://www.phmc.state.pa.us/portal/communities/architecture/styles/gothic-revival.html
Poulson’s American Daily Advertiser, 17 July 1810.
The Gardener’s Monthly, 1 March 1862, 94.
The Gardener’s Monthly, October 1863, 159.